
 
REGULAR MEETING OF THE MISHAWAKA COMMON COUNCIL 

 
November 21, 2011 

                                                                                                              
Be it remembered that the Common Council of the City of Mishawaka, Indiana met in the Council 
Chambers of the Mishawaka City Hall on Wednesday, November 09, 2011 at 7:00 p.m.  The 
meeting was called to order by President John Gleissner and all were asked to stand for the Pledge of 
Allegiance.  
 
Clerk Block’s roll call showed the following;        
 
Dale “Woody” Emmons 1st District Councilman – Present 
Mike Bellovich 2nd District Councilman – Present 
Ross Deal 3rd District Councilman - Present 
Marsha McClure 4th District Councilman – Present 
Michael Compton 5th District Councilman – Present  
Ronald Banicki 6th District Councilman – Present 
John Gleissner, Councilman At Large – Present 
Gregg Hixenbaugh, Councilman At Large – Present 
John J. Roggeman, Councilman at Large – Present  
A quorum was obtained. 
 
Others present; Deborah S. Block, City Clerk; Mary Ellen Hazen Chief Deputy I, Linda Dotson, 
Chief Deputy II, and Council Attorney Mike Trippel absent.  
 
The minutes from the November 9, 2011 meeting were approved as received from the Clerk’s  
Office. 
 
Clerk Block read the following appeal and referred it to the Board of Zoning Appeals for their 
recommendation. 
 

APPEAL NO. 2011-39  An appeal submitted by Parwinder Kaur and Harninder 
Singh requesting a Use Variance for 302 South Main 
Street to allow a gasoline filling station with an inside 
convenience store in the C-3 City Center Commercial 
District.     

 
Clerk Block read a letter from the Plan Commission regarding recommendations from their 
November 15, 2011 meeting. 
  

PETITION NO. 2011-24 A petition submitted by the City of Mishawaka to 
vacate a portion of Old Fulmer Road  

      RECOMMENDED APPROVAL 
 



PETITION NO. 2011-25 A petition submitted by Merna M. Holloway and Brian 
T. Linson requesting to rezone 201-203 East 
Mishawaka Avenue from C-1 General Commercial 
District to C-3 City Center Commercial District.  
RECOMMENDED APPROVAL. 

 
PETITION NO. 2011-26  A Petition submitted PD Realty LLC requesting to 

annex and zone 914 and 916 East McKinley Avenue 
from C-4 Automobile Oriented Commercial District 
and I-1 Light Industrial District. RECOMMENDED 
APPROVAL. 

 
PETITION NO. 2011-27 A petition  submitted by Purlight, LLC, 1st Source 

Bank, and Diversified Real Estate, LLC, requesting 
approval to amend the Twelfth Street Planned Unit 
Development to permit an automated teller machine on 
Lot 1 Filling station/convenience store and car wash on 
Lot 2, and general commercial uses on Lot 3.  
RECOMMENDED APPROVAL  
with the following conditions 
 

 Lot 1 shall be limited to one freestanding automated teller machine and those 
uses identified by the C-1 General Commercial District. 

 
 Lot 2 shall be limited to one filling station/convenience store, car wash and 

those uses identified by C-1 General Commercial Distric 
 

 
 Lot 3 shall be limited to those uses identified by the C-1 General Commercial 

District. 
 
 The freestanding automated teller machine may be installed in a prefabricated 

metal structure in the form of the number (1) in lieu of not placing a 
freestanding main identification sign on the parcel 

 
 All site lighting shall be limited to 25 feet in height, 90-degree full cut-off 

fixtures shall be required for both pole and wall mounted fixtures.  Full cut-off 
shall be provided for all under canopy lighting. 

 
 Required front-yards, rear-yards shall be provided consistent with the C-1 

General Commercial zoning districts. 
 

 Landscaping on Lot 1 and Lot 2 may be in accordance with the Landscape 
Plan submitted with the Final PUD Site Plan.  Lot 3 landscaping and 
screening shall be consistent with the General Commercial Landscape 
Ordinance. 



 
 All Parcels shall maintain a 25-foot front building setback and a 10-foot 

pavement setback from all road right-of-way. 
 

 Outside sale display for loose items shall only be permitted on Lot # and shall 
be identified on any final planned unit development site plan, and shall 
exclude areas north of the pump islands.  Outside display for loose items shall 
be prohibited within designated parking areas, drive/travel lanes and within 
50’ of the road right-of-way. 

 
 Free-standing signage shall be limited as follows – Lot #1 no sign of 

developed as intended for an ATM in the shape of a number one.  If Lot #1 is 
developed for general commercial uses, the sign shall be limited to a 
monument sign no greater then 8’ in height and 60 square feet in display area.  
Lot #2 shall be limited to no greater than 30 foot in height and a maximum of 
180 square feet in display area.  Lot #3 is developed for general commercial 
uses, the sign shall be limited to a monument sign no greater than 8’ in height 
and 60 square feet in display area. 

 
 General façade and directional signage standards shall be submitted 

concurrently with the final planned unit development plan submission, 
including a sign package.  Limits on the height of letters/signage for façade 
signs shall be reviewed, evaluated, and approved by the Planning Commission 
at that time. 

 
 The car wash shall utilize architectural materials deemed appropriate by the 

Design Review Ordinance, consisting primarily of architectural block, brick, 
and/or EIFS.  The car wash shall not contain any flashing or moving exterior 
lighting. 

 
 All loading docks, dumpsters, and mechanical equipment shall be screened 

from view.  Dumpsters shall be screened by a wall matching the building 
materials of the principle building.  Dumpster locations shall be located away 
from any roads behind principle buildings and located away from internal 
collector drives. 

 
 Drive locations and sanitary sewer connection and extension locations shall be 

further reviewed and evaluated as part of any final planned unit development 
submission.  The number of curb cuts and any required improvements relative 
to interior drives turn lanes, median extensions, sanitary sewer 
extensions/platting shall be as determined by the City of Mishawaka Director 
of Engineering. 

 
 

 
 



PETITION NO. 2011-31 A petition submitted by Toscana Realty, LLC, requesting 
to amend the Toscana Park Planned Unit Development to 
permit single and multiple family residential and general 
commercial.  RECOMMENDED APPROVAL with the 
following conditions. 

 
 Uses shall be expanded to allow 12.7 acres of the previously approved and 

partially developed 33 acre PUD to allow for the construction of new multiple 
family residential buildings, not to exceed 104 units.  Units shall be high 
quality with individual garages, consistent with submitted concert plans. 

 
 All units shall be limited to two-stories and a maximum height of 35 feet, 

except for buildings immediately adjacent to the Villa Macri Restaurant.  
These internal buildings may be three stories with a maximum height of 45 
feet. 

 
 If the 5 single family villa lots are included and not removed from the request, 

and a alternative buffer/plan is not approved by the existing Villa owners, a 
buffer including fencing similar in scope to the buffer provided to Brendan 
Hills shall be developed between the uses, including mounding, fencing, 
landscaping, and substantially more new plantings to compensate fro the lack 
of existing vegetation that currently exists between these areas.  A single 
family lot are removed from the petition by the developer, a 6’ wood privacy 
fence, in addition to the buffer planting as originally required shall be 
provided. 

 
 Where necessary, the developer shall install additional landscaping around the 

perimeter of the amended PUD to comply with the original approvals.  
Internal landscaping around and between buildings and parking areas shall be 
provided.  Landscape buffering shall also be provided along Gumwood Road, 
subject to staff review and approval. 

 
 Prior to occupancy, improvements to Gumwood Road and the common storm 

water retention basin shall be completed consistent within past approvals as 
may be directed th the City of Mishawaka Department of Engineering. 

 
PETITION NO. 2011-33 Amendment to the Flood plan Ordinance to correct a 

scrivener’s error.  RECOMMENDED APPROVAL 
 

A public hearing on V2011-03 as required by State Statute on behalf of the City of Mishawaka to 
vacate public right-of-way a portion of Fulmer Road east of Bremen Highway. 
 
Ken Prince, City Planner said there was a paper alley located at this site and they needed to vacate 
that, it was a grassy area and with no utilities.   
 
 



 
The following proposed ordinance was given first reading, assigned to committee, and set for public 
hearing at the next regular meeting.   
 

PROPOSED ORDINANCE NO. 2011-32 
 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING CHAPTER 137 OF THE MUNICIPAL CODE OF THE 
CITY OF MISHAWAKA, INDIANA, AS FROM TIME TO TIME AMENDED, 

COMMONLY KNOWN AS “THE ZONING ORDINANCE OF 1966” 
OF THE CITY OF MISHAWAKA, INDIANA 

 (Vacation of Public Right of Way portion of Fulmer Road East of Bremen Highway) 
(Assigned to Land Use Planning Committee) 

 
 

PROPOSED ORDINANCE NO. 2011-33 
 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING CHAPTER 137 OF THE MUNICIPAL CODE OF THE 
CITY OF MISHAWAKA, INDIANA, AS FROM TIME TO TIME AMENDED, 

COMMONLY KNOWN AS “THE ZONING ORDINANCE OF 1966” 
OF THE CITY OF MISHAWAKA, INDIANA 

(Rezone from C-1 Commercial to C-3 City Center 201-203 East Mishawaka Avenue) 
(Assigned to Land Use Plan Committee) 

 
 

PROPOSED ORDINANCE NO. 2011-34 
 

AN ORDINANCE ANNEXING CONTIGUOUS TERRITORY TO THE  
CITY OF MISHAWAKA, INDIANA, AND PROVIDING ZONING CLASSIFICATION 

THEREFORE 
(Annex and Zone to I-1 Light Industrial & C-4 Auto Oriented – North of 914 & 916 East McKinley) 

(Assigned to Land Use Plan Committee) 
 
 

PROPOSED ORDINANCE NO. 2011-35 
 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING CHAPTER 137 OF THE MUNICIPAL CODE OF THE 
CITY OF MISHAWAKA, INDIANA, AS FROM TIME TO TIME AMENDED, 

COMMONLY KNOWN AS “THE ZONING ORDINANCE OF 1966” 
OF THE CITY OF MISHAWAKA, INDIANA 

(Amend the PUD for 6.197 acres, more or less – southwest corner of East 12th Street  
and Capital Avenue) 

(Assigned to Land Use Plan Committee) 
 
 
 
 



PROPOSED ORDINANCE NO. 2011-36 
 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING CHAPTER 137 OF THE MUNICIPAL CODE OF THE 
CITY OF MISHAWAKA, INDIANA, AS FROM TIME TO TIME AMENDED, 

COMMONLY KNOWN AS “THE ZONING ORDINANCE OF 1966” 
OF THE CITY OF MISHAWAKA, INDIANA 

(Amend the S-2 PUD for Multi-Family, Single Family and General Commercial 
 Toscana Park 52598 Gumwood Drive) 
(Assigned to Land Use Plan Committee) 

 
PROPOSED ORDINANCE NO. 2011-37 

 
AN ORDINANCE AMENDING AND CORRECTING ORDINANCE NO. 5283, PASSED AND 
APPROVED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF MISHAWAKA, INDIANA, ON THE 3RD 

DAY OF NOVEMBER, 2010, AND APPROVED BY THE MAYOR, ON THE 4TH DAY OF 
NOVEMBER, 2010, WHICH CONTAINED A SCRIVERNR’S ERROR; REPEALING ALL 

ORDINANCES OR PARTS OF ORDINANCE IN CONFLICT HEREWITH 
(Scrivener’s error for Floodplain Ordinance No. 5283) 

(Assigned to Public Health and Safety Committee) 
 
Clerk Block read RESOLUTION NO. R2011-15  opening it for public hearing. 
 

   RESOLUTION NO. R2011-15 
 

A RESOLULTION OF THE COMMON COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF MISHAWAKA, 
INDIANA, AUTHORIZING THE PARTICIPATION OF SAID CITY IN THE MOTOR FUEL 

BUDGETING PROGRAM OF THE INDIANA BOND BANK FOR THE 2012 BUDGET YEAR, 
THE EXECUTION OF THE QUALIFIED ENTRY REIMBURSEMENT AGFREEMENT 

IN CONNECTION THEREWITH AND OTHER RELATED MATTERS 
(Motor Fuel Hedging Program of the Indiana Bond Bank for 2012) 

 
Yvonne Milligan, City Controller said this Resolution was to authorize the city’s participation in the 
Fuel Budgeting Program with the Indiana Bond Bank.  She said this would be the city’s fourth year in 
the program and it was to the city’s advantage, 2011 Mishawaka was reimbursed approximately 
$24,000.00.  Ms. Milligan said it was a type of insurance policy in a way that you don’t jump in and out 
of the program so she felt that one more year would help the city. 
 
Mr. Hixenbaugh said he would like to congratulate the Controller and the administration for the 
foresight they have shown by participating in this program.   He said he also appreciated the 
information Ms. Milligan provided them along with an e copy of the underlying agreement itself.  Mr. 
Hixenbaugh stated he would encourage the administration to continue providing the Council with that 
information it was good government and it provides the Council with the solid information that allows 
them to make decisions in a prudent fashion and he hopes this would continue on into the future.  
 
Question was called for at 7:15 pm RESOLUTION NO. 2011-15 Vote: Motion carried by 
unanimous roll call vote (summary: Yes = 9). 



Yes: Gregg Hixenbaugh At Large, John Gleissner At Large President, John Roggeman At Large, 
Marsha McClure 4th District, Mike Bellovich 2nd District, Ron Banicki 6th District, Ross Deal 3rd 
District, Woody Emmons 1st District. Mr. Compton 5th District 
 
Clerk Block read RESLOUTION NO. R2011-16 opening it for public hearing. 

 

   RESOLUTION NO. R2011-16 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE COMMON COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF MISHAWAKA, 
INDIANA, APRPOVING A PETITION OF THE MISHAWAKA BOARD OF ZONING 

APPEALS FOR THE PROPERTY LOCATED AT: 
(302 South Main Street, Mishawaka, Indiana) 

(Use Variance to allow a gas station on C-3 zoned property) 
 
William Hensley, a family friend said he was speaking on behalf of the Singhs and he has turned in site 
plans for this project.  He said they were upgrading the property significantly and were asking for the 
Council’s approval.   
 
Mr. Hixenbaugh said it was more typical for the petitioner to be represented by a professional such 
as an attorney or and engineer who would be able to make representation on the part of the 
petitioner.  He asked Mr. Hensley why the petitioner was not making their own presentation.  Mr. 
Hensley stated he was a retired Engineer and Surveyor, his friends originally started with a general 
contractor, and not understanding the process of our way of doing things they relied on the 
contractor who in turn took advantage of them by stating he would do all of their due diligence, and 
get the permitting and none of that occurred leaving them with a civil suite and trying to recover the 
money this contractor was paid for doing a job he never did.   
 
Mr. Hixenbaugh asked Mr. Hensley if he felt he had the same professional capacity to make 
representations to the Council as if he had been hired by the petitioner.  Mr. Hensley said yes he felt 
he has had enough experience that he knows what needs to be done to get this station back up to 
code inside and out.   Mr. Hixenbaugh said he appreciated Mr. Hensley’s intentions but it would 
alleviate his concerns if he could hear it from the petitioner that he has authorized Mr. Hensley to be 
his representative.   
 
Mr. Singh 52239 Chalem Court, Granger said he has authorized Mr. Hensley to represent him 
because he does not know what to say.         
 
Mr. Compton said this looks to be quite an investment, with a new tank system and all new pumps, 
would that be owned by United Petroleum.  Mr. Singh stated they would be paying United 
Petroleum to put the tanks in the ground, and the pumps in.    Mr. Compton asked if they would be 
removing the old tanks.  Mr. Singh stated the old tanks are already gone.  Mr. Compton asked what 
the plans were for the existing building.  Mr. Sing said they have put in new tile and a walk –in 
cooler and outside they are painting and put up new siding.  Mr. Hensley said they extended the 
inside to include the garage section of the building.  
 
Mr. Emmons said he noticed the tanks were gone and wanted to know when the new tanks would be 
put in.  Mr. Hensley stated they were stopped by the city until proper steps were taken to obtain the 



permits which the previous contractor had not obtained.  He said they back filled the hole and fenced in 
the perimeter to prevent erosion or chance of pedestrian injury.     Mr. Emmons asked what the time 
frame for completion was.  Mr. Singh said United Petroleum has been paid and was waiting for the 
city’s approval to move forward, the one part that would not be completed at this time would be the 
concrete work, they would have to wait for better weather.  He said they would be working on the 
interior of the building. 
Mr. Gleissner said asked if they would be able to open the mart before the tanks were installed.  Mr. 
Singh said no because there would be no parking available without the concrete.  Mr. Gleissner asked 
what kind of gas they would be selling.  Mr. Singh said BP.   
 
Mr. Banicki asked it this was the only store he had.  Mr. Singh said he had a convenience store in South 
Bend on Western and Kenmore, convenience store only no gas. 
 
Mr. Roggeman asked Mr. Prince for some input before voting on this.  Mr. Prince said even though the 
historic use for this property was gas station it was not zoned for that use and they did have some 
concern about the refueling tanker trucks blocking the drives and sidewalks while refueling.  He said 
since the property had been stabilized with fencing he felt it was an adequate solution until it came to its 
resolution.    
 
Question was called for at 7:33 pm on RESOLUTION NO R2011-16, Vote: Motion carried by 
unanimous roll call vote (summary: Yes = 9). 
Yes: Gegg Hixenbaugh At Large, John Gleissner At Large President, John Roggeman At Large, 
Marsha McClure 4th District, Mike Bellovich 2nd District, Ron Banicki 6th District, Ross Deal 3rd 
District, Woody Emmons 1st District. Mr. Compton 5th District 

 
Clerk Block read PROPOSED ORDINANCE NO. 2011-29 opening it for public hearing 

    
PROPOSED ORDINANCE NO. 2011-29 

 
AN ORDINANCE DECLARING AN EMERGENCY AND 

TRANSFERRING AND REAPPROPRIATING FUNDS WITHIN 
THE BUDGET ADOPTED FOR THE CALENDAR  

YEAR ENDING DECEMBER 31, 2011 
(Transfer Funds – Street Dept. $15,000.00) 

 
Yvonne Milligan, City Controller said last year when putting the budget together she put in an 
estimate for the employee insurance and it came in at 71/2% so they were just a little short in the 
funds for employee insurance benefits and that was strictly health insurance nothing else. 
 
Mr. Hixenbaugh said his recollection was, in the resent past the administration decided to take the 
health insurance plan into the IACT Trust, could she comment at this time on how the Trust has 
helped with regard to the renewal amount for group health insurance.  Ms. Milligan said she did not 
know if working through a Trust if the city has the relationship they would have with a broker, the 
trust has the relationship with the broker who has a relationship with the insurance companies.  She 
said she feels the trust has to be working hard to get the best deals possible or more Cities and 
Towns would not be joining.  Ms. Milligan stated she has no input at all on how the process was 



being done only the committee would be approving and she was not on the committee.   She said the 
Mayor was on the committee.  Mr. Hixenbaugh asked if she was referring to the trustees for the trust 
Mr. Hixenbaugh said at this point and time the city has not realized any cost savings as a result of 
the city’s participation in the trust.  Ms. Milligan stated that was the way she felt.   
 
Mr. Hixenbaugh asked if there had been any discussions with regard to reviewing Mishawaka’s 
participation.  Ms. Milligan stated they have had some very serious discussions, this was originally a 
three year commitment, not being aloud to back out of that, the third year would be at the end of 
2012.  Mr. Hixenbaugh said with regard to the 7.5% increase for 2011 what would the increase be 
for 2012.  Ms. Milligan said it was 14.2%.  Mr. Hixenbaugh asked if she could quantify that into 
dollar amounts.  Ms. Milligan stated around 2.5 million dollars maybe a little bit more.  She said the 
pluses and minus were realized at the end of the year by IACT not the City.  Mr. Hixenbaugh said he 
would strongly encourage the city to review its options with regards to continuing this   Ms. Milligan 
stated her and the mayor have talked in depth about that.  Mr. Hixenbaugh stated the 2012 increase 
was beyond the expected rate of medical inflation that he has seen discussed and he realized that she 
shares his concerns to where this was going.  She said she definitely shares the concern.   Mr. 
Hixenbaugh said he realized there was no easy solution at this point since the city was locked in for 
another year but clearly the Mayor and the Council need to look into this in the coming year to see if 
continuing this contract would be in the best interest of the employees.  Ms. Milligan said absolutely. 
 
Mayor Wood said just to reassure everyone this was a huge surprise, knowing that insurance costs 
have gone up for everyone but they think this may be out of line and are looking into it.  He said 
IACT does know, will know, and continue to know the city’s frustrations concerning this.  Mayor 
Wood said they were a founding member of medical trust and can not back out of it now but will 
remain vigilant and would do what ever was in the best interest of the city staff members.   He said it 
was already in the works and has effected decisions already.  
 
Ms. Milligan stated Mishawaka was not suppose to take the brunt of any big problems with any of 
the other cities and towns that was told at the initial meetings, Mishawaka has asked them to come 
here and go over everything and she has not gotten an answer to that yet.  She said she feels that 
maybe Mishawaka was taking on other cities and towns problems.  Mr. Hixenbaugh said that may 
very well be and he was sure she would agree that these types of increases are just not sustainable.  
Ms. Milligan stated they are not Mishawaka’s increases by what the city has paid and what their 
claims are.   
 
Mr. Bellovich said he understands that Mishawaka was in a pooling program; Ms. Milligan said that 
was correct.  Mr. Bellovich asked if the benefits would remain the same going into 2012.  Ms. 
Milligan said the employee’s contributions would not be changing, but it was on plan A 90/10 and 
on plan B it would be a 95/5.   
 
Mr. Emmons asked if Ms. Milligan stated there were more towns joining this plan.  Ms. said that 
was correct.  Mayor Wood said he thought they were up over eleven towns presently.  Mr. Emmons 
asked if the towns joining now were held to the same three year commitment.  Ms. Milligan said she 
believed so.   
 
 



 
Mr. Emmons went on to say he felt that members of  IACT should also express their concerns about 
this.  Ms. Milligan said she believes they have gotten the point.   
 
Ms. Milligan said one of the issues for 2012 may be to set aside funding each month into an  
account, building a little each month just if the city needs to go back to self funding, hopefully they 
would have a little nest egg to get started. 
 
Question was called for at 7:48 p.m. on PROPOSED ORDINANCE NO. 2011-29 Vote: Motion 
carried by unanimous roll call vote, thus it becomes ORDINANCE NO. 5325 
 (summary: Yes = 9). 
Yes: Gegg Hixenbaugh At Large, John Gleissner At Large President, John Roggeman At Large, 
Marsha McClure 4th District, Mike Bellovich 2nd District, Ron Banicki 6th District, Ross Deal 3rd 
District, Woody Emmons 1st District Mr. Compton 5th District. 
 

 
Clerk Block read PROPOSED ORDINANCE NO. 2011-30 opening it for public hearing. 

    
PROPOSED ORDINANCE NO. 2011-30 

 
AN ORDINANCE DECLARING AN EMERGENCY AND 

TRANSFERRING AND REAPPROPRIATING FUNDS WITHIN 
THE BUDGET ADOPTED FOR THE CALENDAR  

YEAR ENDING DECEMBER 31, 2011 
(Transfer Funds – Park & Recreation Department $70,000.00) 

 
Clerk Block said the Controller has asked for an amendment to PROPOSED ORDINANCE NO. 
2011-30.   
 
Mr. Roggeman made a motion to amend this proposed ordinance in its entirety with regards to 
information they just received, with a 2nd by Mr. Banicki the motion carried. 
 
Yvonne Milligan, City Controller said she was speaking on behalf of the new park superintendent, 
asking for a transfer of $70,000.00 from Social Security, PERF, and Unemployment Line to Park 
and Recreation Department Employee to Employee Insurance Benefits, MU Charges.  
   
Question was called for at 7:53 p.m. on PROPOSED ORDINANCE NO. 2011-30 with the Vote: 
Motion carried by unanimous roll call vote, thus it becomes ORDINANCE NO. 5326  
(summary: Yes = 9) 
Yes: Gegg Hixenbaugh At Large, John Gleissner At Large President, John Roggeman At Large, 
Marsha McClure 4th District, Mike Bellovich 2nd District, Ron Banicki 6th District, Ross Deal 3rd 
District, Woody Emmons 1st District Mike Compton 5th District. 
 
Clerk Block read PROPOSED ORDINANCE NO. 2011-31 opening it for public hearing. 

 
 



   PROPOSED ORDINANCE NO. 2011-31 
 

AN ORDINANCE DECLARING AN EMERGENCY AND 
DETERMINING THE EXPENDITURE OF ADDITIONAL 
FUNDS FOR THE YEAR ENDING DECEMBER 31, 2011 

(Addition Funds - $270,000.00) 
 

Yvonne Milligan said in these account lines she couldn’t find much to transfer so this was an 
additional, she said they were a little short in the Pension Fund, sometimes when she does an 
estimate, Non-Fire, EMS personnel are under PERF but the total overtime is also PERF related so if 
that overtime is higher then she estimated she has to pay towards that pension.  She said the 
employee insurance benefits are due to the increase for this year, the election expense were a little 
higher then the estimates she was given last year for this years budget so $40,000.00 more was 
needed to cover the fall election.   
 
Ms. Milligan said the overtime on Fire Department she would refer Chief Freeman for any 
questions.  She said in terms of the gasoline and oil they did not expect what was going to happen 
and she was hoping the $50,000.00 would help she would be reimburse the account line the 
$24,000.00 they received back from the Fuel Hedging.  Ms. Milligan stated they only hedged 50%, 
she could have gone up to 80% and hindsight tells her she should have but she did not feel 
comfortable doing that so they would be needing a little more money for gasoline and oil purchases. 
 
Mr. Emmons asked if the $120,000.00 for Fire was all overtime.  Dale Freeman, Fire Chief said for 
the most part it was for firefighters under doctor’s care or on sick leave, up to 4 or 5 per week.   He 
went on to say they also have a third ambulance placed in service in March, specialty training 
holding pretty close to what it was in the $61,000.00 range, also taking part in a lot of good training 
both as a membership in the tactical rescue team district 8 along with several other counties.  Chief 
Freeman stated they were able to graduate a couple of paramedics this year money well spent.  He 
said they did receive a reimbursement of $5,100.00 for that training. 
 
Mr. Emmons asked if the revenue from the ambulance runs went to the Fire Department.  Chief 
Freeman said it goes to the General Fund.  Mr. Emmons asked if any of it was appropriated back.  
Chief Freeman said that was where the additional would be coming from.  Ms. Milligan City 
Controller said they do not reimburse budget lines with revenue coming in.   Chief Freeman said one 
of the things they would have liked to have done earlier in the years was to have some of that money 
to transfer into that but the previous two transfers one was for Acu-Med the their third party billing 
service and he was under funded on his service contract line which was caused by putting on the 
third ambulance in service these two lines ate up money that otherwise would have been available to 
transfer.  Ms. Milligan stated it was approximately 5 to 9 thousand a month.  Mr. Emmons asked if 
he knew what amount of revenue came in at the end of the 6th month billing cycle for the ambulance 
service.  Ms. Milligan said a little over $600,000.00 that was from March to October.  Mr. Emmons 
said that money goes into the General Fund.  Chief Freeman said that was correct.  Ms. Milligan 
stated those that amount would double since the increase in fees, that money considered 
miscellaneous revenue to fund the General Fund, property tax does not fund the General Fund 100%.    
 



Mr. Bellovich asked Mr. Freeman if he understood him correctly in saying that on any given week 
there were 4 to 5 Fire Fighters on sick leave.  Chief Freeman stated that was what it has been 
averaging.  
 
President Gleissner asked Mr. Hixenbaugh for legal input in Mr. Tipple’s absence, his brother is an 
employee of the Mishawaka Fire Department and an EMT and has been laid up with a back injury, 
would he still be allowed to vote on the proposal.  He said he has no financial interest in the 
outcome.  Mr. Hixenbaugh stated in exposing that potential conflict he has discharged his obligation 
under the law and since he has no direct or indirect tenure of gain as a result of his vote that it would 
be appropriate for him to vote. 
 
Mr. Hixenbaugh said he wanted to compliment Chief Freeman for the break down of overtime he 
provides the Council; it was a model for information flow he appreciates the work that goes into and 
wanted him to know how beneficial it was for the Council.  He said he was still concerned regarding 
the overtime and issue of adequate manpower in the Fire Department and Police Department as well.  
He said another issue they have discussed at previous Council meetings was the hiring process and 
the time line that he sees in regards to hirees there needs to be a to expedite the process, this would 
help cut down on overtime, he encourages the Council and the Administration to continue looking 
for ways to address those concerns. 
 
Question was called for at 8:08 p.m. on PROPOSED ORDINANCE NO. 2011-31 Vote: Motion 
carried by unanimous roll call vote thus it becomes ORDINANCE NO. 5327.    
(summary: Yes = 8 Recused - 1). 
Yes: Gregg Hixenbaugh At Large,  John Roggeman At Large, Marsha McClure 4th District, Mike 
Bellovich 2nd District, Ron Banicki 6th District, Ross Deal 3rd District, Woody Emmons 1st 
District. Mr. Compton 5th District, Mr. Gleissner At Large recused himself because his brother is an 
injured firefighter. 
 
UNFINISHED BUSINESS 
 
Clerk Block read PROPOSED ORDINANCE NO. 2011-17 opening it for public hearing. 

 

   PROPOSED ORDINANCE NO. 2011-17 
 

AN ORDINANCE APPROVING THE CITY OF MISHAWAKA, 
INDIANA COUNTY ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT INCOME TAX 

CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PLAN 
     (Amending the CEDIT) 

 
Mr. Bellovich reported the Budget and Finance Committee recommended this proposed ordinance 
should not be adopted and moved for acceptance of same, upon a second by Mr. Compton, the 
motion carried.     
 
Yvonne Milligan, City Controller stated this was the CEDIT Plan for the City of Mishawaka for the 
years 2012 and 2013, the first year the CEDIT Plan was a little more in-depth then the second.  She 
said the first year would be  



Street Department Equipment, Mr. Watson identified two trucks he would like to purchase, 
the $42,000.00 for other city equipment that line was not as specific as the other it was more an 
emergency type situation and if nothing comes up, that money would never be spent.   She said the 
same amount of money was set back every year for the summer street program for sidewalks and 
curbs what ever they can get done with the money they have.   

Ms. Milligan said the Golf Course drainage was the very end of a program that was put 
together by Lawson Fischer to work on those problems.  She said the Park equipment would be the 
purchase of a truck that may be necessary for the Golf Course, the Park Capital Improvement Plan 
was for one of the bridges at the Golf Course, the idea was not to totally tear it down but to put new 
planks on, and stabilize it, and she thinks a consultant may be needed to take a look at it to make 
sure that was actually what was needed to be done.   

Ms. Milligan said the Merrifield Complex interior needs to be revamped and in the park 
department budget for next year there was $50,000.00 for consulting regarding those needs, some 
work also needs to be done one the outside also. She went on to say $450,000.00 was for capital 
improvements, which includes work on Bendix Park, the fishing accent improvements, and 
$3,000.00 for the drinking fountain at Borley Park, Lang Park master plan for $10,000.00, property 
acquisition at Mary Gibbered $160,000.00, non splash pad improvements $100,000.00, replace the 
pool with a splash pad $125,000.00, Rose Park Master Plan and improvements and landscaping 
these are all estimates and there was a lot to do in all the parks, equipment was to replace mowers or 
maybe purchase just one large mower 

Ms. Milligan went on to say Part of the energy bond was paid out of CEDIT, Public Health 
and Safety and Utilities.  She said Service Contracts and upgrades have been in the plan for awhile it 
was for elevators and the other portion of the radio system and software contracts also an upgrade in 
windows and Microsoft for the city, a fly over photography of the city for maps, and the MACOG 
contribution.  Ms. Milligan said 2013 would be pretty close to the same but would be fine tuned for 
the actual needs that year.   
 
President Gleissner said when the city first went with Motorola Radios there were other departments 
that were using them such as Utilities, were they still making payments Ms. Milligan said yes they 
do, monthly.   
 
Mrs. McClure asked what would happen if the Council did not pass this proposed ordinance.  Ms.  
Milligan said no CEDIT could be spent next year.  Ms. McClure said that means that all of these 
projects would be shelved.  She said yes everything would be, and she said she felt it was a good 
plan.       
 
Mr. Bellovich said regarding the Park Department their may or may not be a purchase of a truck and 
the other comment was in regards to a potential consultant for the bridge at the Golf Course.  Ms. 
Milligan stated she did not have it in front of her but she was pretty sure it was for a truck at the Golf 
Course and the consultant was for looking at everything and what needs to be done.   
 
Mr. Banicki if the $125,000.00 Park Capital Improvement Plan was to switch the pool to the splash 
pad.    Ms Milligan said yes.  Mr. Banicki asked if they approve this proposal the pool would be 
gone and there would be no more discussion on it.  She said it could happen the Park Board would 
have to discuss it.  Mr. Banicki asked if they could redirect funds in different directions.  Ms. 
Milligan said if they wanted to amend it to take a dollar amount out, absolutely, they could do that 



now, or they could amend it next year.   Mr. Banicki said he did not receive the spread sheet she was 
referring to.  Ms. Milligan said it was an Excel Spread Sheet, it could have been two months or more 
that she sent it out, she was asked for it at a budget meeting it could have been in August, she said 
she would be happy to send him one.     
 
Mrs. McClure said she understands the concerns about Mary Gibbered Pool but her concern was if 
the money was amended out it meant nothing can be done there.  Mr. Emmons said it could be un-
appropriated so that it can not be spent and they would have to come back to the Council to get it 
back. 
 
Dave Wood, Mayor said this was a two year plan and there was a new Park Director and he would 
like to get his opinion on this, they were presently investigating what it would cost to open the pool 
for a year and get the data.  He said they are not saying they are going to close the pool down at this 
point and time but are looking for options.  He said the bridge at the Golf Course was unsafe, the 
Merrifield, and Eberhart facilities investments were for making efficiencies down the road.  Mayor 
Wood said the pool has been included knowing that the city would be going through the process due 
diligence and certainly open to keeping the lines of communication open with them on the 
conversion going forward. 
 
Mr. Banicki asked the Mayor if it was his preference to have this proposed ordinance go forward or 
would he rather meet with individual council people about possible concerns they have and continue 
this to the next meeting.  Mayor Wood said time was becoming a premium and what he was saying 
was that if one line item was an issue in this he was certainly open to discussion, he would rather 
have it passed at this meeting but he understands the concern.  He said this was a two year plan 
about capital expenditures not about the general fund or anything of that nature these funds were 
used to improve the infrastructure and there was a great deal of need in that area and that was what 
this plan was about, they need to get about the business of making those improvements.   
 
Mr. Bellovich asked if they were not in agreement with this could they take another pass at it at the 
next meeting by then they would have the spread sheet Ms. Milligan referred to.  Ms. Milligan said it 
was part of their job to get this done the plan has to go to the county and to the state where it was 
kept on record and if the plan was not adhered to then the city would  loose the funds.  Mayor Wood 
said he wanted to remind them that this plan was submitted in August and his door was always open, 
and they could come in regarding any concern they might have and so far he has not heard of any 
concerns.   
 
Mr. Hixenbaugh said for a point of clarification he feels the minutes from of the September Council 
Meeting with regard to the pre-adoption hearing for the City Budget would reflect his concern that 
he articulated at that point and time not only with the budget but the CEDIT in terms of the lingering 
issue of concern expressed time and time again by a majority of the Council with regard to the 1/2% 
percent difference between the Public Safety raises for 2011 and the General City raises at 2 1/2% so 
he feels that point has been made.  He said he was very concerned that they have not had the ability 
to work through that log jam and for him personally he was reluctant to vote on this proposed 
ordinance until there was some type of compromise discussion that takes place and there was time as 
there are two Council Meetings that lie between now and the dead line for passing this so it was his 
intention if a vote was taken at this meeting to vote No on it.    Mr. Hixenbaugh stated it has been the 



long standing concern of this Council and has been fully bedded through out the process and fully 
talked through.  He said, not be a fan of bumping things down the road he does agree with the 
Controller that a decision needs to be reached but it is not just about the administration getting things 
done, the Council is also in the business of getting things done.  He said he does not believe that 
their initiatives and priorities, when it comes to at least that issue, if not others, have been fully given 
their due regard in this process.  Mr. Hixenbaugh went on to say from his standpoint that lingering 
issue needs to be addressed before he in good conscious could vote on the CEDIT Plan.   
 
Mr. Compton said he would have to echo Mr. Hixenbaugh with the issue of the swimming pool they 
have discussed that and had public meetings on it, with the public overwhelmingly expressing they 
would like for that pool to be open.  He said he too had a concern about voting on this, he did not 
realize that was one of the line items, his concern was voting on it with it in there and then next year 
not being able to do anything about it or if they could amend it later.  Ms. Milligan said it was 
always a possibility to amend, she just wanted to say when it comes to the employee raises she looks 
hard at what the new money was and always tries to keep in mind that if funds are taken out of a 
capital improvement and that fund was later taken away you would have to find that money 
somewhere else and she never wants to see another employee lose their job.  She said she was the 
one who gives the Mayor the recommendation, regarding new money, saying if they receive three 
percent of new money does he want all of that to go to just raises, knowing that with inflation, health 
insurance, pensions, the raise of fuel costs, all happens throughout the year, she puts a lot of thought 
into what keeps us one of the best cities around..  Ms. Milligan said the employees deserve a lot 
more then just 3% and do not make what other cities do but that money is hard to come up with.   
 
Mr. Deal said he appreciates everything Ms. Milligan has said, the part that he struggles with was 
that this Council didn’t just suggest that all employees be given the same raise as the public safety 
they showed the city where that money could come from.  He said they have traditionally given 
money to Project Future, and MBA, which they did not do, and those two things together more then 
fund the difference in pay that they were talking about so it was not just her that was working to be 
fair, the Council was also working hard to do things fairly and in the right way so that it would be a 
win, win situation.  Mr. Deal said he knows they are all trying to pull in the same direction so let’s 
not point fingers.  Ms. Milligan said she did not feel that way at all and did not mean it that way, 
originally when she spoke about that she said it was not good to start using those funds out of a 
Capital Plan that someday could be gone, what she was saying was if they want to appropriate that 
each year and then move it what happens to the year those funds are gone that was her point and 
those are the funds they were talking about.  Mr. Deal said he appreciates that but he still struggles 
with the notion that they are talking roughly $25,000.00 out of $46 million dollar budget so it would 
be pretty inconsequential and he says that in light of the fact the year before the employees were 
asked to take no raise at all for the first time in a very long time and they understood that some of 
their colleagues had lost their jobs and they worked with them and it was a good faith jester.   He 
said he feels they owe them a little something extra for showing that sign of good faith and he feels it 
was a small price at $25,000.00.    
 
Mr. Emmons said it was a consensus of the entire Council that the Mary Gibbered Pool be kept open 
and as far as the Park Board was concerned it fell on deaf ears because they just went ahead and did 
what they wanted to and closed the pool last year, so the only leverage the Council has was not to 
give them the money until they were willing to sit down with the Council and really work with them.  



He said there are six people on the park board making a decision for an entire neighborhood and they 
are not listening to the people.     
 
Mayor Wood said he was speaking in favor of CEDIT; again this money was used for Capital 
Expenditures.  He stated has gotten the message on the employee raises, he has heard it loud and 
clear but that was a different discussion this discussion was about the CEDIT.  He said when 
employees saw fellow employees loosing their jobs it was tough for everyone, then again when other 
communities were not giving raises Mishawaka had been.  Mayor Wood said although $25,000.00 
for ½% of raise this year would be carried on forever, beside the fact that the city would be picking 
up $2 million dollars in insurance costs next year that they have not even discussed and they have to 
find money in the budget for and that would be a major cost for the city.  He said they need to 
discuss CEDIT; they would not be closing down the pool without discussion with the Council they 
have heard them loud and clear.  Mayor Wood said he felt this CEDIT Plan was a good plan, they 
have sought community input and the Council’s input and again these discussions can happen 
outside of a Council meeting their offices are always open, whether it be his office or the Park 
Superintendent Terry Zeller, or Ken Prince, they are always ready to listen to their concerns, they 
want to be about good communication also.   
 
Mr. Hixenbaugh said he agrees with the vast majority of his comments particularly the compelling 
points that he makes to what has been done as a community to provide raises for employees at a time 
when other communities had not been able to do that.  He said with regard to the point of the health 
insurance he felt it was disingenuous to have the Council be held captive to the decisions that were 
made by the IACT Insurance Trust and for people that made these decisions that even preceded him 
as the current Mayor, so they were going to have to find a way to meet all of the obligations 
including health insurance going forward.   
 
Mr. Hixenbaugh went on to say with regard to the concept of CEDIT being for Capital Improvement    
only it has somehow taken on the cloak that it would be impossible for them to spend any money out 
of CEDIT for non capital needs.  He said to set the record straight Indiana law allows CEDIT to be 
spent for any legitimate governmental purpose including the items that were being discussed this 
evening so it was not impossible for these items to be satisfied out of this budget.  He said in going 
over the budget prior to the meeting he was able to identify $161 thousand dollars worth of 
consulting and temporary help line items within the general city budget.  Mr. Hixenbaugh stated it 
was his suggestion that if the worry was over the viability of the CEDIT and income tax going 
forward then make the consulting fees or the temporary help subject to vagaries of the income tax 
collection rather then the amount that was at issue this evening.   
 
Mr. Hixenbaugh said again for clarification of the record, Mr. Deal sited a figure of $25,000 which 
was fairly accurate, and he would site for the record the South Bend Tribune Friday October 22, 
2010 in an article written by Mr. Ditz that the Controller was quoted at indicating the ½ % that was 
at issue this evening would have cost the city $28,000.00 for the fiscal year 2011.  He said he would 
also site for the record an e-mail sent to him with a copy to the Mayor, from the City Controller, for 
the 2012 budget of the additional ½ % increase for non-public safety employees would be 
$44,767.86.  Mr. Hixenbaugh said he would hope with continued request from the Council that this 
could someway be worked into the city finances.  He said he believes they agree much more then 
they disagree but from their standpoint he feels it wa important for them to articulate and stand 



behind what they view as their priorities whether it is the ½ % increase or whether it be the non-
closure of Mary Gibbered Pool.  Mr. Hixenbaugh said at the time when this Council ceases to fulfill 
that function they just become another department of city government and there is not that check and 
balance between administration and the fiscal body that state law anticipates will take place here in 
Mishawaka and throughout the state.  He said he feels there is room for some healthy discussion to 
take place but with all do respect to you Mayor the continued reference to your door being open 
somewhat falls deaf on his ears.  Mr. Hixenbaugh said it was a two way street and does not 
incumbent upon them as a fiscal body to always come hat in hand to the administration and ask for 
their priorities to be addressed.  He said there should be a more interactive communication between 
executive and legislative so that no one has to tract anyone down to have a conversation.  Mr. 
Hixenbaugh said he felt by and large the process works fairly well in Mishawaka but at least with 
regard to the issues of Mary Gibbered Pool and the employee raises there has been a communication 
breakdown.   
 
Mr. Hixenbaugh said with regard to the timing and the action here this evening he feels to the a 
certain extent they were arguing about how many angels can dance around on a head of a pin, 
because whether they pass this or not this evening if they continue to feel these two issues are 
priorities it was in the power of the Council to un-appropriate money that was appropriated as part of 
the budgetary cycle and do the math and come up with the sufficient amount for the Council to 
withhold and not appropriate those sums so the money can not be spent until they work through the 
Mary Gibbered issue and the employee raise issue.  He said from his standpoint he does not know if 
it serves anyone’s interest to approve this, and then engage in that exercise, he would rather just have 
the conversation deal with the issues and see what they can do to move forward.   
 
Mr. Hixenbaugh said whether CEDIT was approved at this meeting or not he does not see these 
issues as going away and they were going to have to try and find some type of resolution hopefully 
between now and the end of the year that would allow the business of the city to move forward again 
he would pledge his wiliness to engage in the conversation and be part of the process and hears in 
the Mayor’s conversation that he too was willing to do this.   
 
Mr. Bellovich made a motion to continue this until the next meeting on December 5th, 2011, Mr. 
Banicki second the motion.  
 
Mr. Gleissner said he would vote no on the motion to continue and also vote no on the CEDIT 
proposed ordinance.  He said he has never been invited to the Mayor’s office to discuss any of this, 
he knows quite a lot about the Golf Course Bridge he has walked on it since it was built and all that 
needed. to be said was that part of the money was going to the Golf Course Bridge. he has never 
seen that in print and has never heard of it until this meeting, and it was definitely needed so he 
would vote yes for that part of it.  Mr. Gleissner said the Council has not been shown any credence, 
respect, or concern to any of their concerns, the Budget was just handed to them and they were asked 
to pass this $6 million dollars without any input.  He said it would just be an open wallet.  Mr. 
Gleissner said there was no communication between the Mayor and the Council, no matter what he 
says about his door being open it was not.  He said he would be voting no on the motion and he 
would be voting no on the ordinance until they have some communication. 
 



Ms. McClure said as much as she respects everyone on the Council she would vote no just because 
she thinks it was time to do something.  Ms. McClure said she has served under three Mayors and 
she can not remember any of them asking her for something and it was not fair to say Mayor Wood’s 
door was not open when it was probably open as much as any other mayor they have served under.   
She said these are very emotional issues, it is difficult during negotiations, her and Mr. Hixenbaugh 
both looked at the people and the families these raises involved and it was very difficult.  Ms. 
McClure said the object was to improve the city with Capital money and keeping the city in the 
black where a lot of cities are in the red and she does not understand why they are so angry about 
that.  She said by not voting for the CEDIT they would be shutting the door on all the improvements 
and that would not be working together.   
 
Clerk Block poled the Council on the motion to continue PROPOSED ORDINANCE NO. 

2011- 17.      Vote: Motion passed (summary: Yes = 6, No = 3, Abstain = 0). 
Yes: Gegg Hixenbaugh At Large, Mike Bellovich 2nd District, Ron Banicki 6th District, Ross Deal 
3rd District, Woody Emmons 1st District. Mike Compton 5th District . 
No: John Gleissner At Large President, John Roggeman At Large, Marsha McClure 4th District. 
. 
Clerk Block said PROPOSED ORDINANCE NO. 2011-17 would be heard at the December 19, 
2011 meeting. 
 
Clerk Block read PROPOSED ORDINANCE NO 2011-27 opening it for public hearing. 

    
PROPOSED ORDINANCE NO. 2011-27 

 
AN ORDINANCE AMENDING ORDINANCE NO. 1666 BEING AN ORDINANCE 
ESTABLISHING POLICIES AND PROCEDURES FOR THE ADMINISTRATION 

OF EMPLOYER-EMPLOYEE RELATIONS IN CITY GOVERNMENT, THE FORMAL 
RECOGNITION OF EMPLOYEE ORGANIZATIONS AND THE RESOLUTION 

OF DISPUTES REGARDING WAGES, HOURS AND OTHER TERMS AND 
CONDITIONS OF EMPLOYMENT AS AMENDED. 

(Amending Ordinance 1666 collective bargaining agreement) 
 
Mr. Compton reported the Personnel Committee recommended this proposed ordinance should be 
adopted and moved for acceptance of same, upon a second by Mr. Roggeman, it passed by the 
majority of the community with Mr. Bellovich voting no.   
 
James Elliott, President Mishawaka Fire Fighters Local 360 said he was speaking in favor of this 
amendment and was an amendment he hopes they would never have to enact.  He said he feels it 
does provide a little protection for all of the bargaining units and he feels it would be positive for 
both sides not just the labor side, it would be good to have a 3rd party non binding opinion on how to 
work through some of these issues.  Mr. Elliot said some things to remember was there would no 
cost to the Local or to the city for these services through the FMCS.   
 
Mr. Roggeman asked if Mr. Elliott was familiar with anyone else throughout the state that was using 
this service.  Mr. Elliott said no he was not familiar with anyone else that uses it.   
 



Mrs. McClure asked since there was not a fee for this service could it be worth a lot.  Mr. Elliott said 
Tim Bowers was a part of the FMCS and he seems to be very well respected.   
 
Pasquale Rulli Jr., President of FOP Local 91 said he was as for the Council to vote in favor of this 
proposed ordinance.  He said hopefully they never have to use it.   
Ms. McClure asked Mr. Elliott if Mr. Bowers has been known to ever side with the city as opposed 
to the union.  Mr. Elliott said Mr. Bowers was not union nor anti union he was a mediator that would 
be a third party non binding, his job was litigation.   
 
Mr. Compton said Federal Mediation and consolatory services was a branch of the Federal 
Government and he has met Mr. Bowers and he certainly would tell either party when they are out of 
line or asking for too much in their request, he does not have a stake in it other then his job and that 
was to be a mediator and to give advice from a third position.   
 
Mr. Compton said he was been involved with two negotiations with the police and two negotiations 
with the fire as well as having conversations with people in other department of the city government. 
He said he believes in collective bargaining, he believes in something that gives people a voice in 
their work place, he believes in that process, that being said he knows from personal experience that 
at times a  mediator can break the ice and help sides understand their position better if that be the 
case.  Mr. Compton said this is not an Evergreen Clause all this is mandatory mediation that was non 
binding during the collective bargaining process, and that was all that it was.   He said it gives both 
sides the opportunity to talk to a third party and the third party to give his position on that on what 
ever the in pass was.  Mr. Compton said an Evergreen Clause allows a contract to go on into 
perpetuity if there is no agreement reached and that was not what his was.   
 
Mrs. McClure asked if this doesn’t work out the way they had hoped could it be amended down the 
line.  Mr. Compton said of course. 
 
President Gleissner asked if the Mr. Compton held a public hearing in regards to this proposal.  Mr. 
Compton said yes the Personnel Committee did.  Mr. Gleissner asked who attended.  Mr. Compton 
said he and Mr. Emmons.  President Gleissner asked who from the administration attended.  Mr. 
Compton said he did not see anyone there from the administration.  Mayor Wood said he was not 
aware of any meeting; he did not receive an e-mail or a notification.  Mr. Compton said the meeting 
had been posted.  He said Mr. Compton had been in discussion with Mr. Hixenbaugh for over a year, 
this ordinance was filed without his knowledge, without him being consulted and it does have impact 
on the administration and the Council went about the business without consulting him or the 
administration, not the fire chief, police chief no one.    
 
Mr. Compton asked the Mayor if he was saying that no one in the administration knew this meeting 
was being held.  Mayor Wood said he was not there, it may have been posted.  Mr. Compton asked  
if the Mayor really was saying he did not know of this meeting.  Mayor Wood said he was not given 
the courtesy of a conversation, no one asked for his input.   Mr. Compton said this has been 
discussed on the Council floor at a Council meeting a number of times.  Mayor Wood said this came 
about as an ordinance; the rules were amended right before the election to get it on the agenda and 
again no consultation with the Mayor’s office.  Mr. Compton questioned amending the rules.  Clerk 
Block said the proposed ordinance was given to the Clerk’s Office after the agenda had gone out and 



it was put on the agenda the night of the meeting for first reading.  Mayor Wood said they have 
never been in a position where an agreement like this was needed and he intended to bargain in good 
faith.  He said if the employee groups think this is a good thing then he was ok with that.   
Mayor Wood said what he does have a problem with was the Council again operating without 
transparency and doing the same things they have accused him of doing.  He said he wants to change 
that going forward and he feels that would be done and he looked forward to working with the new 
Council to make sure they can heal some of these issues.  Mayor Wood said they have his 
commitment to work with them with full transparency, and Mr. Gleissner he know he feels he has 
not been included but he has sat in his office with him on a number of occasions over a number of 
issues.   Mr. Gleissner said he beg to differ he has never been included in any of this type of 
conversation, he said in the past four years no one has been invited into the Mayor’s Office. Mayor 
Wood said it was a two way street, he was never consulted about this proposed ordinance and in 
talking to his chiefs neither one of them were aware of it either.  
 
Mr. commented to the Mayor that he felt it was important for all department heads and the Mayor to 
be at every Council meeting and it help keep everyone abreast of what was taking place.  Mayor 
Wood said when it was relevant for department heads to be present they would be there.  He said 
department heads get comp time for coming to these meetings so they are trying to keep down the 
overtime by not having them come to every meeting.  Mr. Emmons said he did not feel that coming 
to a Council meeting twice a month to listen to what was going on and participate when things are 
taking place .was not too much to ask and it would help with the transparency of government.  
Mayor Wood stated everyone knows how to get a hold of department heads     Mr. Emmons said he 
feels it is part of their jobs to be at these meetings twice a month , things come up at the meetings 
they have to delay or post pone because they don’t have an answer from a department head.   
 
Mr. Compton said a notice was posted of the meeting but he did not specifically send one to the 
Mayor assuming the public notice was sufficient, in hind sight he sees where extending that notice 
further would be beneficial in terms of negotiating this further. 
 
Mr. Hixenbaugh stated the reason there are two readings on any proposed ordinance was to allow for 
conversation, or input into that agenda item.  He went on the say there are committee meetings prior 
to the second reading so to suggest there was some type of requirement, it just does not exist in the 
Council Rules that there be a discussion ahead of time that was the way they do business.  Mr. 
Hixenbaugh said he agrees with the Mayor in going forward with enhanced communication between 
the Council and Administration.   
 
Mr. Hixenbaugh said regarding this ordinance he has had discussions with the staff attorney going 
back many years during fire negotiations, it has also been discussed on the floor of the Council 
meetings if there was a desire to have further discussion on this matter he certainly wouldn’t have 
any objection to that.  He said this was an issue he feels very passionately about and was very 
important to him and having been a part of multiple negotiations with regard to public safety in 
particular he has been in the room when a statement has been made by representatives of the 
administration, not the Wood Administration but the prior administration, that if in fact an agreement 
was not reached between the parties that employees would be left without a collective bargaining 
agreement.  Mr. Hixenbaugh said to have seen the ripple affects from those types of statements and 
threats upon the workforce was disconcerting to him.  He said given the relationship public safety 



has with the community and government here he doesn’t feel that type of saber rattling was 
productive.   
 
Mr. Hixenbaugh said the difference here unlike in private industry where there was an equivalency 
of power in so much as the labor force has the ultimate trump card of job related actions, a strike if 
you will if there was a breakdown in the process, that doesn’t work in government.  He said by law 
and by city ordinance it is impossible in legal fashion to “strike” so taking that trump card off the 
table for labor how would it be fair to allow management to have the bigger trump card of taking 
away collective bargaining ordinance.  Mr. Hixenbaugh said he agrees with President Elliot he 
hoped it was an ordinance they never have to use and he hopes that the parties would continue to 
negotiate in good faith to the point where they don’t reach an in pass and they do not have to go into 
a tie breaker provision to break that in pass, but he feels it was healthy based on upon recent history 
for them to have this in place.   
 
Mr. Hixenbaugh went on to say it would be counter productive to allow the administration as part of 
the negotiations to be able to say what the Council has done in terms of setting up collective 
bargaining in Mishawaka would be undone by the administration by taking action to do away with 
the collective bargaining agreement.  He said that was not in keeping with the rule of the Council, 
legislation that has been passed and separation of power as principal, so to him this maintains a fair 
balance everything that would be done would be subject to the approval of the Council, it was non 
binding mediation that would simple allow for there to be a way to break the tie so that negotiations 
do not breakdown to the determent of the community.  Mr. Hixenbaugh said he appreciates Mr. 
Compton’s leadership on this issue, and feels it was well worth the support of the Council and he 
looked forward of casting his vote in favor. 
 
Mrs. McClure said she would like to see this proposed ordinance pass with everyone going in the 
same direction it was too important for them as a Council, for the Mayor, and for the citizens of the 
city that the Council be unified on this and would like to take more time to discuss it before they 
vote. 
 
Mr. Hixenbaugh said one of the things he was most proud of while serving on the Council was when 
either the public or a fellow Council member to allow for additional time to consider an issue, to talk 
through a concern that they have afforded that opportunity.  He said personally he has no objection 
with the provisos in as expeditious fashion as possible with in his mind by the end of this year.  Mr. 
Hixenbaugh said it was his feeling that Mr. Compton has a fair amount of skin in this game so if he 
were so inclined to make a motion to continue this he would second that motion but was not inclined 
to make that motion himself.   
 
Mr. Compton asked Mayor Wood if he thought there was anything to be gained in holding this off, 
what he thought he heard was that if the bargaining groups of the city were for it that was something 
he was for it but if he wanted more time to talk about it and think more on it he would be happy to 
make that motion.   
 
Mayor Wood said he felt they could have that discussion with the chiefs but at the end of the day 
like it was said it was non binding so he does not know what in it could be changed or negotiate it 
was pretty straight forward but it certainly could be reviewed among the chiefs and that would be in 
Mr. Compton’s discretion to continue if he so chose to do so. 



 
Mr. Compton said he would like to make a motion to continue PROPOSED ORDINANCE NO. 
2011-27 to the December 5, 2011 meeting, and also make sure the Mayor knows that he could 
contact him, or Mr. Gleissner to sit down with him to discuss this they would make the time for that.  
With a second by Mr. Banicki the motion carried. 
 
NEW BUSINESS 
 
Mr. Banicki said he wanted to remind everyone of the 6th District meeting at John Young Middle 
school at 7:00p.m.,with Mr. Prince being the guest speaker.  He said also attending would be George 
Obren from Code Enforcement.  He wished everyone a Happy Thanksgiving.  
 
Mr. Roggeman said he wanted to wish all of the NIC football teams that were going down state good 
luck.  Penn High School, St. Joseph High School, and Washington High School were going down to 
play for the championship.  
 
There being no further business to come before the Council, President Gleissner adjourned the 
meeting at 9:25 p.m. 
 
Deborah  S. Block, _________________/s/   John P. Gleissner                      /s/  
Deborah  S. Block, MMC           John P. Gleissner 
City Clerk       Presiding Officer 
 


